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ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
 

Plaintiff NM Conferences, LLC (“NM Conferences” or “Plaintiff”), by and through its 

undersigned attorneys files this Original Complaint against Defendant Desiree Ward (“Ward” or 

“Defendant’), alleges, on knowledge as to its own actions, and otherwise upon information and 

belief, as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This is an action for infringement of NM Conferences federally-registered service 

mark MOM 2.0 SUMMIT under Section 32(1) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1), for 

unfair competition and false designation of origin under Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a), and for substantial and related claims under the statutory and common laws of 

the State of Utah, all arising from the Defendant’s unauthorized use of the mark “The Mom 

Summit” in connection with the marketing, advertising, promotion, offering for sale and/or sale 

of Defendant’s online classes at the Defendant’s website www.themomsummit.com. 

2. NM Conferences seeks injunctive and monetary relief. 

JURISDICTION 

3. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1121, 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, and 1338(a) and (b), and pursuant to the principles of supplemental jurisdiction 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

VENUE 

4. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(d).  
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PARTIES 

5. NM Conferences, LLC is a limited liability company formed under the laws of the 

State of Texas and has a principal place of business at 12 Greenway Plaza, Suite 1100, Houston, 

Texas 77046.   

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant is an individual who resides at 276 North 

800 East, Orem, Utah 84097. Upon information and belief, Defendant operates the internet 

website www.themomsummit.com, which is offering online courses with “inspiring interviews 

and videos with some of the top bestselling authors, parenting experts, fitness gurus and DIY 

pros!” 

FACTS 

NM Conferences and its MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark 

7. NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference was conceived in 2008 to 

facilitate a much-needed, focused conversation between moms and marketers in the growing 

online marketing and social media space. See March 25, 2014 Declaration of Laura Mayes, 

attached as Exhibit 1 (hereinafter “Mayes Declaration”), at ¶5.  NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT conference was the first blogging conference for moms by moms.  Id.  NM 

Conferences launched its first MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference in 2009 and is about to stage its 

next annual conference on May 1, 2014 in Georgia.  Id.  Past MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences 

have been held in Houston, New Orleans, Florida, and California.  Id.  NM Conferences has 

carefully and painstakingly built a reputation for its MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference as the 

leading national conference for top mom bloggers and women in media in the United States. Id. 

While there are general blogging conferences for women and countless niche events for special 
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interest bloggers (food, crafting, etc.), the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference brings together a 

broad cross-section of top-tier, consummate professionals who are at the forefront of parent 

blogging and women’s online journalism. Id. 

8. The 3-day, 2013 MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference reached a community of more 

than 10,300,000 people on Twitter alone with over 110 million unique impressions of the 

#mom2summit hashtag. Id. at ¶6.  NM Conferences has created an annual MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

event since 2009 that has built the reputation for serving this community with high-quality 

programming and experiences befitting the leaders of any industry. Id. At the same time, the 

MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference helps global brands establish lasting, productive relationships 

with these women who are changing the landscape of modern media.  Id. As Forbes magazine 

pointed out in a 2012 feature on the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT event, the top fifteen mom bloggers 

have a larger influence network than The New York Times, and the network of mom bloggers has 

immense reach and influence.  Attached to the Mayes Declaration as Exhibit 1A is a true and 

correct copy of the 2012 Forbes article.  The MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference is known in the 

agency and media world as the go-to conference to mingle with mom influencers.  Mayes 

Declaration at ¶6. 

9. The MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference’s content and programming tracks have 

helped define industry trends over the years, and its hallways have created countless business 

ventures and profitable relationships for the attendees – women (and some men) who represent 

the finest in media, marketing and online content creation.  Id.at ¶7. Over the years, NM 

Conferences has invested over a million dollars into creating the experiences that define its 

MOM 2.0 SUMMIT brand. Id.  The prestigious venues and attention to details of the MOM 2.0 
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SUMMIT conferences make for sublime surroundings and a first-rate professional experience.  

Id.  The MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences are hosted at high end hotels including The Four 

Seasons and The Ritz Carlton.  Id.  This level of quality has become synonymous with the MOM 

2.0 SUMMIT brand and reputation. Id.  

10. In addition to industry prominence and leadership, for years the MOM2.0 

SUMMIT conferences have been featured in Forbes, in The Wall Street Journal, on CNN/HLN 

and dozens of other national media outlets through the years.  Id.at ¶9. Attached to the Mayes 

Declaration as Exhibits 1A-1C are true and correct copies of Forbes, The Wall Street Journal 

and CNN/HLN articles featuring the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences.   

11. Props from the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences, such as posters, attendee 

badges, etc., were used with permission in the filming of Basic Math, an upcoming Columbia 

Pictures movie about a mom blogger, starring Cameron Diaz in the lead role.  Mayes 

Declaration.at ¶10. 

12. In recent years, the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences have spawned the DAD 2.0 

SUMMIT conference that itself has been covered in The New York Times, Parents Magazine, 

and The Today Show.  NM Conferences’ DAD 2.0 SUMMIT conference has received awards 

for being among the Top 15 Most Innovative Events in the Nation, and has been recognized by 

many industry outlets like Advertising Age and AdWeek. Id.at ¶11. 

13. Based on its national industry reputation and goodwill for hosting a peerless 

community of leading women influencers and its reputation for first-class, standard-setting event 

experiences, NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences have become a trusted, go-to 
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resource for some of the world’s largest brands and marketing agencies to connect with the 

leading women in media. These brands include: 

 Unilever/ Dove  

 Whirlpool 

 LG USA 

 Microsoft 

 Viacom 

 Honda 

 CVS Pharmacy 

 PBS 

 Jenny Craig 

 Volkswagen 

 Got Milk? 

 IKEA 

 

 Microsoft 

 Intel 

 Procter & Gamble 

 Barilla 

 LEGO 

 UN Foundation 

 Fruit of the Loom 

 New Balance 

 Elmer’s 

 Fandango 

 Tree Top 

 McDonald’s 

 

 Johnson & Johnson 

 Nintendo 

 Dr. Pepper/Snapple 

 Kikkoman 

 American Cancer 

Society 

 Zatarain’s 

 Evenflo 

 Barilla 

 Dole Fruit 

 HP 

 Huggies 

Id.at ¶12. 

14. In addition to global brands that come to NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

conferences to connect with leading women in online media, based on the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

conferences’ reputation for excellence, top global media outlets have established partnerships 

with the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences to build relationships with this community of 

influencers. Some recent media partners have included: 

 Turner Broadcasting / CNN 

 HGTV 

 FOX News  

 Martha Stewart Living 

 National Geographic 

 Huffington Post 

 

Id.at ¶13. 

15. Nationally-known celebrities and journalists also trust the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

brand as a place where they can attend and engage in a forward-thinking discussion about 

important issues. Id.at ¶14. People like Abigail Disney, actress Nia Vardalos, actress & activist 
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Amanda Peet, journalists Lisa Ling & Kyra Phillips, and many more have attended MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT conferences in the past and know that the brand will provide a quality experience. Id. 

16. The MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences have become a nationally-known brand 

with a sterling reputation, one that is trusted by all three of its constituencies – mom bloggers, 

top brand marketers, and media leaders to deliver on its promises and provide a successful 

experience.  Id.at ¶15. 

17. NM Conferences is the owner of valid and subsisting United States Trademark 

Registration No. 4,493,995 (“the ’995 Registration”) on the Principal Register in the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office for the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT (hereinafter “MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT Mark”) for following services: 

Arranging, developing and conducting annual business conferences in the fields of 

parenting, parent coaching, female entrepreneurship, and women-led businesses; business 

services, namely, formulation of best practices for parent coaching, female 

entrepreneurship services, and women-led business services; business meeting planning 

and management; business networking of peer-to-peer groups of female online content 

creators and female online websites and blogs, female online publishers, individuals, 

internet media publishers, marketing professionals and market brand representatives; 

general business networking referral services, namely, promoting the goods and services 

of others by passing business leads and referrals among group members and meeting 

sponsors; and 

Arranging, developing and conducting annual business and educational seminars, 

educational conferences and educational programs and providing courses of instruction 
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and courses related to best practices, all in the fields of parenting, parent coaching, 

female entrepreneurship, and women-led businesses; arranging professional workshop 

and training courses; educational services, namely, arranging and conducting educational 

seminars, lectures, workshops, presentations, retreats and tutorial sessions for women in 

women-led businesses, female parent online creators and publishers of online websites 

and blogs, and/or female parents; business training; conducting educational conferences 

and educational seminars in the fields of business, marketing, event management, and 

entrepreneurship related to female parents and women-led businesses. 

18. Attached as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of the ’995 Registration, which 

was issued by the United States Patent and Trademark Office on March 11, 2014. 

19. NM Conferences has used the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark in commerce in the 

United States continuously since as early as June 2008 in connection with its services.  

20. As a result of its widespread, continuous, and exclusive use of the MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT Mark to identify its services, and NM Conferences as their source, NM Conferences 

owns valid and subsisting federal statutory and common law rights to the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

Mark. 

21. NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark is distinctive to both the consuming 

public and NM Conferences’ trade. 

22. NM Conferences has expended substantial time, money, and resources marketing, 

advertising and promoting the services provided under the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark.  NM 

Conferences operates the website www.mom2summit.com, through which it provides 

information related to its conference services. Mayes Declaration at ¶16.  NM Conferences also 
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owns the domain name momsummit.com, which redirects to its www.mom2summit.com 

website.  Id. 

23. The services NM Conferences offers under its MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark are of 

high quality to the influential mom bloggers and female entrepreneurs who create online content 

and attend the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT premier professional conference.  See id. at ¶6. 

24. As a result of NM Conferences’ expenditures and efforts, the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

Mark has come to signify the high quality of the services designated by the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

Mark, and acquired incalculable distinction, reputation, and goodwill belonging exclusively to 

NM Conferences.   

Defendant’s Unlawful Activities 

25. Defendant recently announced her intention to offer online courses under the 

name “The Mom Summit” on her internet website www.themomsummit.com.  Attached as 

Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of a screen shot of the internet website for “The Mom 

Summit” (www.themomsummit.com).  Defendant’s internet website for “The Mom Summit” 

(www.themomsummit.com) describes “The Mom Summit” as “the World’s First Online Mom 

Summit—Created By Moms For Moms.” Id.  “The Mom Summit” website states that “The Mom 

Summit” will include “a week of FREE online classes from our greatest resource: each other!” 

Id.  “The Mom Summit” website indicates that the event will take place from March 31–April 7, 

2014.  Id.   

26. Without NM Conferences’ authorization, beginning after NM Conferences 

acquired protectable exclusive rights in its MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark, Defendant adopted and 
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began using a mark confusingly similar to NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark—the 

“The Mom Summit” mark (hereinafter, the “Infringing Mark”) in United States commerce. 

27. The Infringing Mark adopted and used by Defendant is confusingly similar to NM 

Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark.  

28. Defendant has been engaged in the advertising, promotion, offering for sale and 

sale of services using the Infringing Mark throughout the United States through her internet 

website for “The Mom Summit” (www.themomsummit.com).  

29. The Defendant has marketed, advertised, promoted, and offered for sale under the 

Infringing Mark substantially the same services NM Conferences has offered through its MOM 

2.0 SUMMIT Mark, namely, a conference for moms. 

30. Defendant has marketed, advertised, promoted, and offered for sale services under 

the Infringing Mark through her internet website for “The Mom Summit” 

(www.themomsummit.com). 

31. Defendant has marketed, advertised and promoted her services under the 

Infringing Mark through similar online sources as NM Conferences has marketed its MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT Mark. 

32. Defendant offers and sells her services under the Infringing Mark to moms, the 

same type of consumers that NM Conferences has marketed to in connection its MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT Mark. 

33.  On March 10, 2014, NM Conferences’ counsel sent a cease and desist letter to 

Defendant objecting to Defendant’s use of the Infringing Mark.  Attached as Exhibit 4 is a true 
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and correct copy of March 10, 2014 letter.  NM Conference’s counsel requested a response by 

March 14, 2014.  Id. 

34. On March 14, 2014, Defendant’s counsel responded indicating that NM 

Conferences could expect a responsive letter in the next few weeks.  Attached as Exhibit 5 is a 

true and correct copy of Defendant’s counsel’s March 14, 2014 response to NM Conferences’ 

cease and desist letter.  Under the timeframe proposed by Defendant’s counsel, NM Conferences 

would not have received a substantive response until after Defendant’s “The Mom Summit” 

event had already taken place. 

35. NM Conferences’ counsel responded with an offer to extend the response 

deadline to March 19, 2014, in light of Defendant’s request for additional time to respond.  

Attached as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of NM Conferences’ counsel’s email extending 

the response deadline. 

36. On March 19, 2014, Defendant’s counsel responded that Defendant would not 

comply with the demands set out in NM Conferences’ counsel’s cease and desist letter.  Attached 

as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of Defendant’s counsel’s March 19, 2014, response to NM 

Conferences’ cease and desist letter.  Defendant’s internet website for “The Mom Summit” 

(www.themomsummit.com) continues to indicate that the “The Mom Summit” event will take 

place from March 31 to April 7, 2014.  See Exhibit 3. 

37. Defendant’s infringing acts as alleged herein have caused and are likely to cause 

confusion, mistake, and deception among the relevant consuming public as to the source or 

origin of the Defendant’s services and have and are likely to deceive the relevant consuming 
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public into believing, mistakenly, that Defendant’s services originate from, are associated or 

affiliated with, or otherwise authorized by NM Conferences. 

38. Defendant’s infringing acts as alleged herein have resulted in actual confusion as 

evidenced by the following examples of actual confusion: 

39. The first evidence of actual confusion comes from Katherine Stone (a former 

speaker at a MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference).  Ms. Stone thought that an email from 

Defendant’s “The Mom Summit” was from NM Conferences.  In response to an email from 

Noemi Morales (noemi@themomsummit.com) apparently at the request of Defendant, Ms. Stone 

sent the following email: 
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Attached to the Mayes Declaration as Exhibit 1D is a true and correct copy of Ms. Stone’s email.  

Ms. Stone expresses the opinion that the “[The Mom Summit] event attempts to draft of the 

brand of Mom 2.0 or confuse potential participants.”  Id.  

40. The second evidence of actual confusion comes from Megan Jordan (an attendee 

of the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference in New Orleans in 2011.  In response to an email from 

Noemi Morales (noemi@themomsummit.com) apparently at the request of Defendant, Ms. 

Jordan sent the following email: 

 

Attached to the Mayes Declaration as Exhibit 1E is a true and correct copy of Ms. Jordan’s 

email.  Ms. Jordan expresses the opinion that she “cannot support [The Mom Summit] project 

with this derivative domain and duplicate title.  It is highly confusing to new users who may 

Google ‘mom summit’ and naturally assume the momsummit.com and momsummit.com are of 
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the same entity, as well as creates a likelihood of confusion for even the existing audience for the 

original Mom Summit.”  Id. 

41. Additionally, several other participants in NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

conferences have already contacted NM Conferences to inquire whether “The Mom Summit” is 

affiliated with NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences, suggesting confusion as to 

origin, source, sponsorship, or affiliation of the Defendant's services.  Mayes Declaration at ¶20.  

For example, Ms. Gumbinner stated “This is weird. It seems like they are affiliated with you”.  

Id.  Attached to the Mayes Declaration as Exhibit 1F is a true and correct copy of Ms. 

Gumbinner’s email.  Id. 

42. By going to market and contacting MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conference customers as 

“The Mom Summit” and widely making the patently false and deceptive claim that it is “The 

World’s First Mom Summit, for Moms by Moms,” Defendant and her business have already 

caused significant confusion and will continue to cause significant damage to the MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT brand in the marketplace.  Id. at ¶21. In the fast-moving marketplace of social media 

and brand marketing, this ongoing confusion will quickly erode the marketable goodwill that 

NM Conferences has spent years building in its MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark. Id. at ¶21. 

43. The hard-earned, impeccable reputation that sustains the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

brand has taken 6 years and over a million dollars to build.  Id. at ¶22.  The degradation of that 

brand would cause an irreparable breakdown in confidence among the both sponsors and 

attendees of the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT conferences.  Id.  This would cause a loss of current value 

and future growth potential for NM Conferences, with damages that cannot be calculated in 
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terms of dollars alone. It could also cause the industry to lose a key annual touchstone event, 

which would do immeasurable long-ranging harm to the industry as a whole.  Id.   

44. Defendant’s acts are willful with the deliberate intent to trade on the goodwill of 

NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark, cause confusion and deception in the marketplace 

and divert potential sales of NM Conferences’ services to the Defendant. 

45. Defendant’s acts are causing, and unless restrained, will continue to cause damage 

and immediate irreparable harm to NM Conferences and to its valuable reputation and goodwill 

with the consuming public for which NM Conferences has no adequate remedy at law. 

 

COUNT ONE 

(Federal MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Trademark Infringement) 

46. NM Conferences incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

47. Defendant’s unauthorized use in commerce of the Infringing Mark as described 

herein is likely to cause confusion, mistake or deception and constitutes infringement in violation 

of Section 32(1) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1). 

48. Defendant has committed the foregoing acts of infringement with full knowledge 

of NM Conferences’ prior rights in the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark and with the willful intent to 

cause confusion and trade on NM Conferences’ goodwill. 

49. Defendant’s conduct is causing immediate and irreparable harm and injury to NM 

Conferences, and to its goodwill and reputation, and will continue to both damage NM 

Conferences and confuse the public unless enjoined by this Court. NM Conferences has no 

adequate remedy at law. 
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50. NM Conferences is entitled to, among other relief, injunctive relief and an award 

of actual damages, Defendant’s profits, enhanced damages and profits, reasonable attorneys’ fees 

and costs of the action under Sections 34 and 35 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1116, 1117, 

together with prejudgment and post-judgment interest. 

 

COUNT TWO 

(Federal Unfair Competition and False Designation of Origin) 

51. NM Conferences incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

52. Defendant’s unauthorized use in commerce of the Infringing Mark as alleged 

herein constitutes use of a false designation of origin and misleading description and 

representation of fact. 

53. Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein is willful and is intended to and is likely to 

cause confusion, mistake or deception as to the affiliation, connection or association of 

Defendant with NM Conferences. 

54. Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein is intended to and is likely to cause 

confusion, mistake or deception as to the origin, source, sponsorship, or affiliation of the 

Defendant’s services. 

55. Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein constitutes unfair competition in violation 

of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

56. Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein is causing immediate and irreparable harm 

and injury to NM Conferences, and to its goodwill and reputation, and will continue to both 
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damage NM Conferences and confuse the public unless enjoined by this Court. NM Conferences 

has no adequate remedy at law. 

57. NM Conferences is entitled to, among other relief, injunctive relief and an award 

of actual damages, Defendant’s profits, enhanced damages and profits, reasonable attorneys’ fees 

and costs of the action under Sections 34 and 35 of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1116, 1117, 

together with prejudgment and post-judgment interest. 

 

COUNT THREE 

(Common Law Trademark Infringement) 

58. NM Conferences incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

59. NM Conferences owns and enjoys common law rights in the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 

Mark and related trademarks. These marks are inherently distinctive and/or have acquired 

distinctiveness prior to the acts of Defendant complained of herein.  

60. Defendant’s conduct was and is likely to cause confusion and therefore 

constitutes infringement of the common law trademark rights of NM Conferences. 

61. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, NM Conferences has suffered damages in an 

amount to be proven at trial. 

62. By reason of Defendant’s bad faith and willful infringement, NM Conferences, as 

the trademark owner, is entitled to recover actual damages and Defendant’s profits. 

63. NM Conferences has no adequate remedy at law for the damage to its goodwill in 

the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Marks and will continue to be irreparably damaged unless and until 

Defendant is enjoined from its infringing and illegal conduct as alleged herein.   
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COUNT FOUR 

(Unfair Competition – Utah Code Ann. § 13-5a-101 et. seq.) 

64. NM Conferences incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

65. By publishing, promoting, and distributing her works, Defendant has engaged in 

intentional business acts and practices that have led to and will continue to lead to a material 

diminution in value of NM Conferences’ trademarks.  

66. Such conduct is unlawful, and infringes NM Conferences’ valuable trademark 

rights.   

67. Defendant’s conduct constitutes unfair competition in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 

13-5a-101 et seq. and has damaged and will continue to damage NM Conferences’ goodwill and 

reputation to the irreparable injury thereof unless restrained by this Court. NM Conferences has no 

adequate remedy at law.  

68. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 13-5a-103, NM Conferences is entitled to an award of 

actual and punitive damages against Defendant.   

69. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 13-5a-103, NM Conferences is entitled to an award of 

its costs and attorneys’ fees.  

 

COUNT FIVE 

(Request for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunction 

70. NM Conferences incorporates the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

71. NM Conferences has superior and prior rights in the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark. 

The use of the mark “The Mom Summit”, by Defendant infringes upon the MOM 2.0 SUMMIT 
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Mark. NM Conferences has a substantial likelihood of success on the merits of its claims against 

Defendant. 

72. The continued use of “The Mom Summit” by Defendant, including the roll-out of 

online courses on its internet website www.themomsumitt.com beginning on or before March 31, 

2014 is likely to cause immediate and irreparable injury to NM Conferences and NM 

Conferences’ customers.  Defendant has had actual knowledge of the MOM 2.0 Summit Mark 

and has introduced her internet website www.themomsummit.com and is introducing its online 

courses with a deceptively similar and confusing name. 

73. The threatened injury to NM Conferences outweighs any damage the temporary 

restraining order and injunction might cause Defendant. NM Conferences’ rights to the mark 

MOM 2.0 SUMMIT attached upon its initial use as a trademark in June 2008, and NM 

Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT has been a federally registered mark since March 11, 2014. 

Defendant only registered her internet website www.themomsummit.com on November 25, 

2013, and has only recently begun to advertise her products and is launching her online courses 

on March 31, 2014.  Attached as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of www.godaddy.com 

“whois” search results for Defendant’s internet website www.themomsummit.com. 

74. At this time Defendant has not yet launched her online courses and has already 

delayed the launch of her online courses by at least a week—from March 24, 2014 to March 31, 

2014.  See Exhibits 3, 4.  The threatened injury to NM Conferences of having advertisements and 

sales of online courses bearing the mark “The Mom Summit” with claims that the Defendant’s 

event is “The World’s First Mom Summit” being sold by a company that promotes online 

courses for moms is high. 
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75. The temporary restraining order and injunction requested by NM Conferences 

will not disserve the public interest; in fact, it will serve the public’s interest. 

76. Defendant’s infringement is done knowingly and willfully and constitutes an 

exceptional case. NM Conferences is entitled to recover enhanced damages, including costs and 

attorneys’ fees incurred. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, NM Conferences requests judgment against Defendant as follows: 

1. That Defendant has violated Section 32 of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1114) 

and Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)).  

2. That Defendant’s conduct constitutes unfair competition in violation of Utah Code 

Ann. § 13-5a-101 et seq. and Common Law Trademark Infringement under the laws of the State 

of Utah. 

3. Granting an temporary restraining order, and preliminarily and permanently 

enjoining the Defendant, her employees, agents, officers, directors, attorneys, successors, 

affiliates, subsidiaries and assigns, and all of those in active concert and participation with any of 

the foregoing persons and entities who receive actual notice of the Court’s order by personal 

service or otherwise from: 

a. manufacturing, distributing/providing, selling, marketing, advertising, promoting 

or authorizing any third party to manufacture, distribute/provide, sell, market, 

advertise or promote any goods or services bearing the mark “The Mom Summit” 
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or any other mark that is a counterfeit, copy, simulation, confusingly similar 

variation or colorable imitation of NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark; 

b. engaging in any activity that infringes NM Conferences’ rights in its MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT Mark; 

c. engaging in any activity constituting unfair competition with NM Conferences; 

d. making or displaying any statement, representation or depiction that is likely to 

lead the public or the trade to believe that (i) Defendant’s services are in any 

manner approved, endorsed, licensed, sponsored, authorized or franchised by or 

associated, affiliated or otherwise connected with NM Conferences or (ii) NM 

Conferences’ services are in any manner approved, endorsed, licensed, sponsored, 

authorized or franchised by or associated, affiliated or otherwise connected with 

Defendant; 

e. using or authorizing any third party to use in connection with any business, goods 

or services any false description, false representation, or false designation of 

origin, or any marks, names, words, symbols, devices or trade dress that falsely 

associate such business, goods and/or services with NM Conferences or tend to do 

so; 

f. registering or applying to register any trademark, service mark, domain name, 

trade name or other source identifier or symbol of origin consisting of or 

incorporating the mark “The Mom Summit” or any other mark that infringes or is 

likely to be confused with NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark, or any 

goods or services of NM Conferences, or NM Conferences as their source; and 
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g. aiding, assisting or abetting any other individual or entity in doing any act 

prohibited by sub-paragraphs (a) through (g). 

4. Granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper to prevent 

the public and trade from deriving the false impression that any goods or services manufactured, 

sold, distributed, licensed, marketed, advertised, promoted or otherwise offered or circulated by 

Defendant are in any way approved, endorsed, licensed, sponsored, authorized or franchised by 

or associated, affiliated or otherwise connected with NM Conferences or constitute or are 

connected with NM Conferences’ services. 

5. Directing Defendant to immediately cease all manufacture, display, distribution, 

marketing, advertising, promotion, sale, offer for sale and/or use of any and all packaging, labels, 

catalogs, shopping bags, containers, advertisements, signs, displays and other materials that 

feature or bear any designation or mark incorporating the mark “The Mom Summit” or any other 

mark that is a counterfeit, copy, simulation, confusingly similar variation, or colorable imitation 

of NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark, and to direct all distributors, retailers, 

wholesalers, and other individuals and establishments wherever located in the United States that 

distribute, advertise, promote, sell or offer for sale Defendant’s goods or services to cease 

forthwith the display, distribution, marketing, advertising, promotion, sale and/or offering for 

sale of any and all goods, services, packaging, labels, catalogs, shopping bags, containers, 

advertisements, signs, displays and other materials featuring or bearing the mark “The Mom 

Summit” or any other mark that is a counterfeit, copy, simulation, confusingly similar variation, 

or colorable imitation of the NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 SUMMIT Mark, and to immediately 

remove them from public access and view. 
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6. Directing that Defendant recall and deliver up for destruction or other disposition 

all goods, packaging, advertisements, promotions, signs, displays and related materials 

incorporating or bearing the mark “The Mom Summit” or any other mark that is a counterfeit, 

copy, confusingly similar variation or colorable imitation of NM Conferences’ MOM 2.0 

SUMMIT Mark. 

7. Directing, pursuant to Section 35(a) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1116(a)), 

Defendant to file with the court and serve upon NM Conferences’ counsel within thirty (30) days 

after service on Defendant of an injunction in this action, or such extended period as the Court 

may direct, a report in writing under oath, setting forth in detail the manner and form in which 

Defendant has complied therewith. 

8. Awarding NM Conferences an amount up to three times the amount of its actual 

damages, in accordance with Section 35(a) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1117(a)). 

9. Directing that Defendant account to and pay over to NM Conferences all profits 

realized by its wrongful acts in accordance with Section 35(a) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 

1117(a)), enhanced as appropriate to compensate NM Conferences for the damages caused 

thereby. 

10. Awarding NM Conferences punitive and exemplary damages as the Court finds 

appropriate to deter any future willful infringement. 

11. Declaring that this is an exceptional case pursuant to Section 35(a) of the Lanham 

Act and awarding NM Conferences its costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees thereunder (15 

U.S.C. § 1117(a)). 
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12. Awarding NM Conferences interest, including prejudgment and post-judgment 

interest, on the foregoing sums. 

13. Awarding such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

  

DATED this 25th  day of March, 2014. 

 

     KIPP AND CHRISTIAN, P.C. 

 
 

/s/ Gregory J. Sanders     
GREGORY J. SANDERS 
PATRICK C. BURT 
Attorneys for Plaintiff  

   

  SUTTON MCAUGHAN DEAVER PLLC 

  Tanya Chaney (Pro Hac Vice Admission Pending) 

  Jeffrey Andrews (Pro Hac Vice Admission Pending) 

  Bruce Cannon (Pro Hac Vice Admission Pending) 
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